IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JACK RILEA SLINEY,

Appellant,

vs.

FSC Case No. SC05-13 LT Case No. 92-451-CF

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR CHARLOTTE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THOMAS H. OSTRANDER, ESQUIRE FLA. BAR NO. 0508349 2701 Manatee Ave W Unit 1 Bradenton, Florida 34205-

(941) 746-7220

SARA K. DYEHOUSE, ESQUIRE FLA. BAR NO. 0857238 3011 RICHVIEW PARK CIRCLE TALLAHASSEE, FL 32301 (850) 907-9559

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

4952

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, JACK RILEA SLINEY, was the defendant in the trial court below and will be referred to herein as "Appellant" or by his proper name. Appellee, the State of Florida, was the petitioner in the trial court below and will be referred to herein as "the State." Reference to the direct appeal will be by the symbols "ROA," followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers. Reference to the post-conviction proceedings will be by the symbols "PCR," followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Around 5:50 p.m. on June 18, 1992, Marilyn Blumberg drove to Ross Pawn Shop in Englewood, Florida, when her husband, George, did not come home from work and did not answer the phone at the shop. When she arrived, she found the door locked, the "closed" sign displayed, and the lights off. Upon

entering the store, she noticed the display cases were empty or in disarray. She found her husband was lying behind a display case in a pool of blood with a pair of scissors protruding from his neck. She immediately dialed 911 and then left the shop. (ROA VIII 666-77).

Gil Stover, a crime scene technician with the Charlotte
County Sheriff's Office, found the victim lying face-down on
the floor behind a display case/counter, half-way inside a
small bathroom. The victim's glasses and a hammer were on the
floor near the body. A piece of camera lens was behind the
toilet, and another whole camera lens was in the wastebasket
in the bathroom. (ROA VIII710-18). The FBI crime lab found
no prints of value on the camera lenses, hammer, or scissors.
The only print of value was that of Keith Witteman,
Appellant's co-defendant, which was found on the frame of a
mirror setting on one of the display cases. (ROA X 1018-19).

During the autopsy, Dr. Imami discovered scrapes and contusions on the forehead, cheeks, lips, eyes, and an ear of the victim. His right eye was swollen shut, and the bridge of his nose was broken. Dr. Imami speculated that the injuries may have been caused by the camera lens found in the wastebasket or by some other blunt object. On the top and

¹ However, no evidence was presented that the camera lens contained blood or skin or any other indicia that it had been used to cause the injuries to the victim's face.

the back of the victim's head, Dr. Imami found three concentric-shaped lacerations about 1.5 inches in diameter, consistent with the hammer found near the body. There were three stab wounds to the side of the neck, one of which still contained a pair of orange-handled scissors. The victim's ribs were also broken 22 times on both the left and right sides, and front and back. Finally, the victim's back bone was fractured near the lower chest on the back side. Dr. Imami believed that these latter injuries were caused by increased pressure applied while the victim was lying on the floor face down. Dr. Imami estimated the time of death at 3:30 p.m. (ROA IX 751-779).

Dale Dobbins was in Ross Pawn Shop sometime during the mid- to late-afternoon on the day of the murder. Just as he was leaving, two white males entered the store. They both immediately turned their backs on him, which he found odd and suspicious, so he stayed for a few minutes, but left when he got no sign from the pawn shop owner that he needed help. The next day, when Mr. Dobbins heard about the murder, he approached the police and assisted in preparing a composite sketch of one of the two men. He later identified Appellant in a photo lineup, and identified him at trial as one of the

² Again, no evidence was presented that the hammer contained blood or skin or any other indicia that it had been used to cause the injuries to the victim's head.

two men he had seen in the pawn shop on that day. (ROA IX 788-800).

Stanley McGinn, a patrol officer for the Punta Gorda
Police Department, learned of the murder during roll call at
work and was provided a copy of the composite sketch. Because
his stepdaughter was dating a young man named Thaddeus Capeles
from Englewood, who was roughly the same age as the person in
the composite, he showed the composite to Thaddeus, who called
later with a possible identification of the suspect. McGinn
then informed Detective Cary Twardzik, the lead investigator
on the murder case, about Thaddeus' phone call. (ROA IX 80105).

Detective Twardzik had no leads in the case until McGinn called on June 27, 1992. When Twardzik contacted Mr. Capeles, Thaddeus informed the detective that Appellant had approached him at Club Manta Ray, a teen dance club that Appellant managed, and offered to sell him a gun. Twardzik then set up a "sting" operation, whereby Capeles would wear a body mic and purchase the gun from Appellant. When the serial number on the gun matched the gun register at Ross Pawn Shop, Twardzik then arranged for Capeles to purchase additional guns from Appellant. The serial numbers from those guns matched the gun register as well. At that point, Twardzik and others arrested

Appellant for dealing in stolen property. (ROA II 351; IX 805-914; X 943-59).

After orally waiving his Miranda rights, Appellant initially claimed that he bought the guns, and some jewelry, from a black male at the Port Charlotte mall three weeks before. When confronted with the fact that the guns were stolen from the pawn shop only ten days previously, Appellant asked for a piece of paper and provided a hand-written confession, wherein he admitting beating and stabbing the victim. He later gave an oral taped confession, wherein he again admitted to killing Mr. Blumberg while his friend, Keith Witteman, stole jewelry and guns from the pawn shop display cases. (ROA X 959-1009). Based on the confessions, the detectives obtained a search warrant for Appellant's home, where he lived with his parents. In a trunk in Appellant's bedroom, which Appellant was sharing with Keith Witteman, the police discovered a .41 caliber gun, which was not listed on the pawn shop's firearm register, and a gym bag containing jewelry later identified by the victim's wife as jewelry stolen from the pawn shop. (ROA X 1010, 1036-39).

After Sliney's arrest, the trial court appointed

Assistant Public Defender Mark Cooper to represent him. A few

 $^{^3}$ Detectives Twardzik and Sisk got distracted during the interrogation and forgot to have Appellant sign the waiver portion of the rights form. (ROA X 965).

weeks later, the Public Defender moved to withdraw his office due to an excessive caseload. Sliney also filed a pro se motion to discharge the Public Defender's Officer, alleging that its excessive caseload would prevent it from representing him effectively. (ROA I 12). The hearing on these motions occurred on October 1, 1992. Unfortunately it was never transcribed, and the court reporter's notes have been destroyed. Court minutes, which appear in the original record on appeal, indicate that Appellant listed nine reasons why Cooper should be dismissed. Besides himself, three other witnesses testified on Appellant's behalf. The minutes

⁴ This motion was docketed into the court file, <u>see</u> https://www.co.charlotte.fl.us/scripts/mgrqispi.dll?appname=MP I%20Criminal&prgname=PUBSEARCHF, and was thus part of the "files and records" to which the trial court had access in assessing Appellant's post-conviction claims. The motion, however, was not included in the original record on appeal. For this Court's convenience, Appellant has provided it as **Appendix A.**

reflect that the motion was denied without prejudice. ⁵ (ROA I 11).

Eight months before trial, dissatisfied with Cooper's representation, and fearful that Cooper would not be able to effectively represent Appellant as Cooper had told the trial court, Appellant's father hired the law firm of Norton and Marryott for \$10,000. (PCR III 304-05, 364-65, 408-09). Kevin Shirley, an associate, was assigned to the case. Shortly thereafter, Shirley filed a motion to suppress Appellant's written and oral confessions on the ground that he was intoxicated at the time of his arrest and interrogation. (ROA I 46; II 252-367)). Several patrons from Club Manta Ray testified at the suppression hearing that Appellant had been drinking all night and was visibly intoxicated by 1:00 a.m., just prior to his arrest. (ROA II 257-65, 266-70, 270-77). Appellant testified, as well, that he had been drinking all night and could not remember waiving his rights or providing either the written or oral confessions. (ROA II 277-95). Detective Cary Twardzik and Detective Lloyd Sisk both testified, however, that Appellant successfully negotiated two

 $^{^{5}}$ The order, which is in the court file, but which was not included in the original record on appeal, has been provided in ${\bf Appendix}~{\bf B}.$

separate gun sales with Thaddeus Capeles, followed all directions when engaged in a felony stop, and otherwise presented no indications that he was intoxicated when he waived his rights or provided the confessions. (ROA II 296-349, 350-60). The trial court denied the motion to suppress, finding that Sliney "was not so impaired by alcohol that [he] lacked the ability to exercise his free will." (ROA II 364-67).

Appellant pursued the involuntary confession argument at trial, calling as witnesses the patrons from Club Manta Ray who saw him drinking and intoxicated by the end of the evening. (ROA XI 1062-68, 1074-80, 1082-88). Appellant testified, as well, that he was intoxicated when he was arrested and did not remember waiving his rights or confessing to the crime. Regarding the murder, Appellant testified that he and Keith Witteman went to Ross Pawn Shop so Appellant could buy Witteman a gold necklace in exchange for a gold bracelet Witteman owned that Appellant wanted. At one point, the victim quoted Appellant a price for the necklace. Appellant began looking at other merchandise, but came back to the necklace, at which point the victim quoted a higher price. Appellant paid for the necklace, but confronted Mr. Blumberg about the change in price. They began arguing. As the argument escalated, Appellant went behind the counter and

grabbed the victim by the shoulder. They both fell to the ground. When Appellant stood up, he noticed that Mr. Blumberg was bleeding, so he asked Witteman what they should do. Witteman said he did not know. Appellant responded that they should call 911, but instead of doing so, he left the store, because he was nauseous from seeing the blood, and lay down in his truck. A few minutes later, Witteman came outside to check on him and went inside the truck's cab, retrieving a pair of workout gloves. Witteman went back inside the pawn shop and returned five or six minutes later carrying a pillow case full of stuff. Witteman was wearing a tan sweater that was not his own and had a gun stuck into his waistband. Witteman told Appellant to get up and drive, so they left. They drove to two secluded locations where Witteman disposed of several items, then they went home. Appellant learned the next day from his mother that the victim had died. (ROA XI 1112-28).

The jury returned verdicts of guilty on October 1, 1993, to first-degree premeditated murder, first-degree felony murder, and armed robbery. (ROA XII 1335). Following the verdicts, Appellant fired Kevin Shirley, alleging numerous reasons for his discharge, most notably that Shirley had done nothing to prepare for the penalty phase. (ROA XII 1343-45). Because Appellant was indigent and was not competent to

represent himself, the trial court re-appointed Assistant

Public Defender Mark Cooper to handle the penalty phase,

postponing the trial 33 days to give Cooper time to prepare.

(ROA I 169; XI 1342).

The trial court granted Cooper's motion to appoint Dr. Bob Silver, Ph.D., as a confidential expert "to assist counsel in sentencing preparation and evaluation of the Defendant herein." (ROA I 170). The court denied, however, Cooper's later motion for extension of time and motion for appointment of independent investigator/mitigation specialist. (ROA I 174-75, 176-77, 179). In his motion for extension of time, Cooper alleged that he had insufficient time to read the 1,359 pages of trial transcripts that had been delivered on October 18, 1993, and he needed more time to contact penalty phase witnesses. (ROA I 174-75). The trial court denied the motion because Sliney had hired his own attorney of choice, that attorney had had over a year to prepare, Sliney chose to fire his attorney prior to the penalty phase, and 30 days was adequate time for Cooper to prepare. (ROA I 179).

At the penalty phase, the State presented no additional testimony or evidence and waived its opening statement. (ROA III 383-84). On Appellant's behalf, A.P.D. Cooper presented the following witnesses: (1) a neighbor who had lived across the street from Appellant and his family for 13 years, who

testified that Appellant was polite, courteous, well-mannered, and a good neighbor (ROA III 385-87); (2) a track coach at Appellant's high school, who testified that Appellant ran track and pole vaulted, worked hard, and was never a problem (ROA III 388-91); (3) the principal at Appellant's high school, who testified that Sliney was an average student, was not a disciplinary problem, and had received a scholarship to continue his education (ROA III 392-94; (4) Sliney's brother, who testified that Appellant once changed the tire on an elderly woman's car without charge and used to mow the law and pick up groceries for an elderly man down the street (ROA III 395-98); (5) Appellant's mother and father, who both testified that they loved their son, were very proud of his accomplishments, and had had high hopes for his future (ROA III 399-403, 404-10); and (6) a correctional officer with the county jail, who testified that Appellant had received no disciplinary reports during his 16 months in jail, despite being housed in a "tough wing" (ROA III 411-14).

In aggravation, the jury was instructed on the "avoid arrest" and "felony murder" aggravating factors. (ROA III 439). In mitigation, it received instructions on the "no significant history," "extreme duress," age, and the catchall mitigating factors. (ROA III 439-40). The jury returned a recommendation of death by a vote of 7 to 5. (ROA I 194; III

445). The trial court took the matter under advisement until the disposition of Keith Witteman's case. (ROA Supp. 23-24). Although a separate jury later recommended a life sentence for Witteman, the trial court nevertheless sentenced Sliney to death, finding in aggravation that Appellant committed the murder during the commission of a felony (robbery), and that he committed the murder to avoid arrest. In mitigation, the trial court gave "substantial weight" to Appellant's lack of criminal history, it gave "little weight" to his age (19), and it gave "little weight" to his other nonstatutory mitigation, except for his good behavior in jail, which the court gave "some weight." It rejected in mitigation any evidence that Appellant acted under the extreme duress or substantial domination of Keith Witteman. Moreover, it found that Witteman's life sentence was not a significant mitigating factor because Appellant was far more culpable. (ROA II 221-27; III 470-79). Finally, it departed upward in imposing a life sentence for the armed robbery because of the capital murder conviction. (ROA II 228).

On direct appeal, Assistant Public Defender Robert

Moeller raised the following issues for this Court's review:

(1) the trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion to

suppress his confessions, (2) the trial court erred in

admitting a transcript of the 911 call Marilyn Blumberg made

after finding her husband dead, (3) the trial court erred in admitting irrelevant and prejudicial portions of the taped transactions between Appellant and Thaddeus Capeles, (4) the trial court erred in admitting the firearms register from the pawn shop because it constituted inadmissible hearsay, (5) the trial court erred in ruling inadmissible the testimony of three jail inmates who overheard Keith Witteman making an inculpatory statement, (6) the trial court erred in denying penalty phase counsel's motion for appointment of a penalty phase expert and motion for extension of time, (7) the trial court erred in instructing the jury on, and finding the existence of, the felony murder and avoid arrest aggravators, (8) Appellant's sentence was not proportionately warranted, (9) the trial court erred in departing from the guidelines on the robbery charge without clear and legitimate reasons for doing so, and (10) the trial court erred in assessing a public defender's fee and costs without notice and a hearing. Initial brief. This Court found Issues 1 through 9 without merit and affirmed Appellant's convictions and sentences; however, it set aside the order on fees and costs and remanded for proper notice and a hearing. Sliney v. State, 699 So. 2d 662 (Fla. 1997). Three justices dissented on proportionality

grounds. Id. at 672-73.

The U.S. Supreme Court denied Sliney's certiorari petition on February 23, 1998. Sliney v. Florida, 522 U.S. 1129 (1998). The Office of CCRC--Southern Region initially represented Sliney, until the circuit court for Charlotte County appointed Mark Ahlbrand, a registry attorney. (PCR I 4). The circuit court allowed Mr. Ahlbrand to withdraw, however, on February 4, 1999, a mere 19 days before Sliney's federal habeas corpus petition was due. (PCR I 4). Unrepresented by counsel, Sliney filed pro se a "shell" motion for post-conviction relief on February 19, 1999, in order to toll the statute of limitations in federal court. (PCR I 1-7). On February 23, 1999, exactly one-year from the denial of certiorari, the circuit court appointed Thomas Ostrander, Esquire, another registry attorney, to represent Sliney in his post-conviction proceeding. (PCR I 8). Ostrander, too, filed a "shell" motion on March 31, 1999, in order to toll the federal statute of limitations, although the one-year period had already expired. (PCR I 10-34).

On June 1, 1999, the trial court ordered counsel to file a consolidated motion for post-conviction relief. (PCR I 39). Counsel did so, raising the following six claims: (1) trial

⁶ On June 25, 1998, this Court "toll[ed] the time requirements set forth in Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.851 and 3.852 until October 1, 1998," for Sliney and others. Amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, 719 So. 2d 869 (Fla. 1998).

counsel, Kevin Shirley, was ineffective for failing to investigate and present a voluntary intoxication defense that included evidence of both alcohol and steroid use; (2) penalty phase counsel, Mark Cooper, was ineffective for failing to investigate and present mitigation relating to Sliney's abuse of alcohol and steroids; (3) the penalty phase jury instructions impermissibly shifted the burden of proof to the defendant to prove that life imprisonment was the appropriate penalty; (4) trial counsel, Kevin Shirley, was ineffective for failing to move to strike for cause, or for failing to object to the state's cause challenges against, jurors Walker, Noles, and Lukas; (5) trial counsel, Kevin Shirley, was ineffective for failing to move for a change of venue; and (6) cumulative errors deprived Sliney of a fair trial and sentencing proceeding. (PCR I 110-51).

Six and a half months later, after the State had responded to the motion, Mr. Ostrander moved to amend Sliney's motion for post-conviction relief to add the following claim: Sliney's venire was not sworn prior to voir dire. (PCR II 228-31). At the <u>Huff</u> hearing, the trial court granted the motion to amend and scheduled an evidentiary hearing on all claims, including the supplemental claim. (PCR II 252-53, 253-56).

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