IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JACK RILEA SLINEY,

Appellant,

v.

CASE No. SC05-13 Lower Tribunal No. 92-451 CF

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR CHARLOTTE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0802743
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: Sliney failed to show an actual conflict of interest which adversely affected his attorney's performance. Consequently, the trial court properly denied this claim after the hearing below.

ISSUE II: Trial counsel conducted a reasonable penalty phase investigation and called friends and family members to testify to Sliney's allegedly positive character traits. Trial counsel's decision to emphasize Sliney's positive character rather than present conflicting and largely negative expert testimony was a reasonable tactical decision. Moreover, there was no credible evidence to suggest that Sliney was actually taking steroids at the time of the murder and collateral counsel failed to present any expert testimony to suggest that steroid use or abuse played any role in the victim's murder.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING SLINEY'S CLAIM THAT DEFENSE COUNSEL'S PRIOR REPRESENTATION OF A STATE WITNESS CREATED A CONFLICT OF INTEREST WHICH REQUIRES REVERSAL OF HIS CONVICTIONS? (STATED BY APPELLEE).

Appellant claims that he was denied the right to conflict free counsel in violation of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The State disagrees.

A. Standard Of Review

"The question of whether a defendant's counsel labored under an actual conflict of interest that adversely affected counsel's performance is a mixed question of law and fact."

Hunter v. State, 817 So. 2d 786, 792 (Fla. 2002)(citing Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 342 (1980) and Quince v. State, 732 So. 2d 1059, 1064 (Fla. 1999). Consequently, it is subject to de novo review on appeal.

B. Appellant Failed To Show That His Attorney Labored Under A Conflict Of Interest Which Adversely Affected His Performance

The trial court denied this claim below, stating:

7. With regard to the supplementary claim and collateral counsel's allegation that trial counsel had a conflict of interest through his prior representation of Detective Sisk, the Court finds that there was no "actual conflict of interest," as contemplated by the Sixth Amendment of the United

States Constitution. As stated by the United States Supreme Court in $\underline{\text{Mickens } v. \; \text{Taylor}}$, an "actual conflict of interest" is a conflict of interest that adversely affects counsel's performance.

The Court has thoroughly reviewed counsel's cross-examination of Detective Sisk at trial, and finds that there is no evidence to support a claim that Mr. Shirley's prior representation of Detective Sisk adversely affected his performance. See also, Hunter v. State, supra.

In addition, as with the other claims, collateral counsel failed to present any expert testimony in support of the bare allegation that counsel had a conflict of interest that was undisclosed and that adversely affected his performance. In fact, collateral counsel did not even present testimony from Mr. Shirley on this point, although he had every opportunity to do so.

(V-6, 957-58). The court also provided a recitation of the facts adduced on the issue below, noting that only the defendant was called to testify on the conflict issue. (V-6, 948-52).

In <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 817 So. 2d 786, 791 (Fla. 2002), this Court observed that the Sixth Amendment encompasses the right to representation free from "actual conflict." However, to establish a violation of this right "the defendant must 'establish that an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer's performance.'" (quoting <u>Cuyler v.</u> Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 350 (1980)). This Court stated:

A lawyer suffers from an actual conflict of interest when he or she "actively represent[s] conflicting interests." <u>Cuyler</u>, 446 U.S. 350; see also <u>Quince v. State</u>, 732 So. 2d 1059, 1065 (Fla. 1999). To demonstrate an actual conflict, the defendant must identify specific evidence in the record that suggests

that his or her interests were compromised. See Herring v. State, 730 So. 2d 1264, 1267 (Fla. 1998). A possible, speculative or merely hypothetical conflict is "insufficient to impugn a criminal conviction." Cuyler, 446 U.S. at 350. "[U]ntil defendant shows that his counsel actively represented conflicting interests, he has not established the constitutional predicate for his claim of ineffective assistance." Id. If a defendant successfully demonstrates the existence of an actual conflict, the defendant must also show that this conflict had an adverse effect upon his lawyer's representation. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 692, Cuyler, 446 U.S. at 350.

The facts developed below do not demonstrate an actual conflict of interest which compromised the loyalty of Sliney's trial attorney. See Martin v. State, 761 So. 475, 476 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) (affirming trial court's denial of public defender's motion to withdraw based upon public defender's office previous representation of state witness, noting that "[t]he public defender, as the movant, had the burden of demonstrating the conflict of interest."). As a preliminary matter, Sliney had an evidentiary hearing on the conflict issue below and introduced no evidence to show a conflict of interest between Shirley and Corporal Sisk. His only witness was Sliney who testified that Shirley did not tell him about Shirley's alleged previous representation of Corporal Sisk and who claimed that he passed notes to Shirley during his cross-examination of Sisk. Sliney failed to call either Shirley or Corporal Sisk to establish the nature and extent of the alleged prior attorney client

relationship which is the foundation of the claimed conflict. As the prosecutor noted below in his argument on this issue, Sliney's "pleadings" do not constitute "proof." (V-6, 992).

At the evidentiary hearing below, Sliney failed to present any evidence to suggest, much less establish, that Shirley declined to vigorously challenge or cross-examine Corporal Sisk at the expense of Sliney. Indeed, counsel failed to present any evidence at all to show that an area of legitimate cross-examination or challenge was not made to Corporal Sisk at the expense of Sliney. See Smith v. White, 815 F.2d 1401 (11th Cir. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 863 (1987)("Smith has failed to show 'inconsistent interests' in this case where he has failed to adduce proof of substantial relationship or relevant confidential information or any other proof of inconsistent interests.")². In any case, the fact that Shirley may have

Sliney's post-conviction counsel asked the court to take judicial notice of the attachments to his Motion to Amend during his closing argument on the conflict issue. The record does not reflect the judge ruled on the request contained within defense counsel's closing argument. (V-6, 952).

² In <u>Smith</u>, 815 F.2d 1401, 1404 (11th Cir. 1987), the court utilized a test to distinguish between actual and hypothetical conflict of interest:

We will not find an actual conflict [of interest] unless appellants can point to specific instances in the record to suggest an actual conflict or impairment of their interests... Appellants must make a factual showing of inconsistent interests and must demonstrate

represented Corporal Sisk in a divorce and civil proceeding for reinstatement to the police department, prior his representation of Sliney, does not establish that he "actively represented" competing interests at the time of trial. Cuyler, 446 U.S. at 350 ("[U]ntil a defendant shows that his counsel actively represented conflicting interests, he has not established the constitutional predicate for his claim of ineffective assistance."). Snelgrove v. State, 2005 Fla. LEXIS 2206 (Fla. November 10, 2005) (finding no error in refusing public defender's motion to withdraw based brief upon simultaneous representation of a state witness where the public defender withdrew from the state witness's case when conflict became apparent and did not represent him at the time of the defendant's trial and the former client [state witness] agreed to waive the conflict).

Sliney's case proceeded to trial in late September of 1993. Shirley's alleged representation of Corporal Sisk, according to documents attached to his motion to amend but not introduced as evidence during the hearing below, was in a civil divorce matter in March of 1990 and in an earlier civil action in an effort to

that the attorney made a choice between possible alternative courses of action, such as eliciting (or failing to elicit) evidence helpful to one client but harmful to the other. If he did not make such a choice, the conflict remained hypothetical.

regain his position with the police department, dated December 1988. (V-5, 854-59; 869-70). Thus, even if Sliney's documents are accepted as true and as competent "evidence," it is clear that defense counsel was not actively representing Corporal Sisk at the time of Sliney's trial. See Barnham v. United States, 724 F.2d 1529, 1532 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 467 U.S. 1230 (1984) (affirming lower court's determination that no conflict noting that the lawyer testified his representation of a state witness did not have "the remotest connection" with defendant's trial). Shirley had previously represented Corporal Sisk on unrelated matters and petitioner failed to show, much less allege, that Shirley declined to use relevant evidence or material to impeach his former client. See Porter v. Singletary, 14 F.3d 554 (11th Cir. 1994) (Although Porter alleged a "potential conflict" based upon his public defender's previous representation of a state witness, he failed to "prove an actual conflict of interest" at the evidentiary hearing; that is, petitioner failed to "point to specific the record which suggest an instances in impairment compromise of his interests for the benefit of another party.").

In <u>Bouie v. State</u>, 559 So. 2d 1113 (Fla. 1990), this Court addressed a situation where a member of the Public Defender's Office moved to withdraw based on the office's prior

representation of a State witness. This Court stated that in order for a defendant to show a violation of the right to conflict-free counsel, "a defendant must establish that an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer's performance." Id. at 1115 (quoting Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 350 (1980)). This Court found that the defendant failed to meet this burden because the public defender's representation of the State witness concluded prior to the witness' testimony. Id. Additionally, Bouie's counsel conducted an extensive crossexamination of the State witness at trial, and zealously guarded Bouie's interests at the expense of the witness/prior client. See also Mills v. Singletary, 161 F.3d 1273, 1287-88 (11th Cir. 1998) (public defender's prior representation of testifying co-defendant [Ashley] did not violate the Sixth Amendment where the "public defender's alleged loyalties did not force him to forego cross-examination of Ashley; instead, Greene [defense counsel] cross-examined Ashley extensively and attempted to elicit the statements that caused Ashley to invoke the attorney client privilege.").

Sliney opines that "Shirley was forced to choose between discrediting his former client through information learned in confidence, or foregoing vigorous cross-examination in an attempt to preserve Sisk's attorney/client privilege." However,

Sliney does not provide any cite to support such an assertion, and, none appears in the record. Sliney failed to present any evidence at all to establish that Shirley was in possession of relevant or useful information which could have been used to cross-examine Detective Sisk. Again, Sliney failed to call Detective Sisk or even Shirley to establish the nature of their previous attorney client relationship and whether or not any useful or relevant impeachment information existed. claim is exactly the type of attenuated or hypothetical conflict which cannot form the basis for a conflict of interest claim, much less establish reversible error. See Owen v. Crosby, 854 So. 2d 182, 193-94 (Fla. 2003) ("A possible, speculative or merely hypothetical conflict is 'insufficient to impugn a criminal conviction.'"); Spencer v. State, 842 So. 2d 52, 63 2003) (reversible error cannot be predicated "conjecture.") (citing Sullivan v. State, 303 So. 2d 632, 635 (Fla. 1974)).

It must also be remembered that Corporal Sisk was not the lead Detective who took Sliney's written or taped confession.³

³ Sliney asserts that Sisk's alleged misconduct which led to his dismissal from the police department in the late nineteen eighties would somehow have been admissible as impeachment evidence in Sliney's trial. However, aside from the fact that Sliney failed to establish the nature and extent of the alleged misconduct, it is clear that the events occurred years prior to Sliney's trial and were completely unrelated to his work on

The lead Detective, Twardzick, testified at length regarding the arrest of Sliney, and the taking of his written and taped confessions. (TR 922-1034). Detective Sisk assisted arresting Sliney and was only called in rebuttal, testifying that Sliney did not appear intoxicated and that he did not throw up in the station. Sisk admitted on cross-examination by Shirley that he was not in the interview room during the taped statement and that he was not present with Sliney at all times during the morning of his arrest. (TR 1174-75). Thus, aside from failing to offer any testimony below to establish what potential impeachment was forgone by Shirley based upon the alleged conflict, it is clear that Detective Sisk was simply not a critical witness for the State. He provided brief, cumulative testimony to that offered by Detective Twardzick. Consequently, based upon this record, it cannot be said that

Sliney's case. There is no chance, that even <u>if</u> Sliney had presented actual evidence below to show the nature of the misconduct, that such allegations would have been admissible to impeach Detective Sisk. <u>See Reed v. State</u>, 875 So. 2d 415, 431 (Fla. 2004) (noting investigation of officer for unrelated misconduct [use of cocaine from evidence room] was not material under <u>Brady</u> because such evidence would not have been admissible at trial); <u>Accord Breedlove v. State</u>, 580 So. 2d 605 (Fla. 1991).

established a "conflict of interest" which adversely affected counsel's performance.⁴

In conclusion, it is clear that a conviction should not be overturned without a showing that a defense counsel *actively* represented conflicting interests. Quince v. State, 732 So. 2d 1059, 1065 (Fla. 1999). Shirley did not have an active attorney client relationship with Detective Sisk at the time of Sliney's trial. Sliney adduced no evidence to establish that his attorney's alleged prior representation of Detective Sisk on unrelated civil matters in any way compromised his loyalty to Sliney.

⁴ Sliney's claim that Shirley might have divided loyalty based upon his representation of Detective Sisk's son in 1993 is pure speculation. No evidence was introduced below to show that Jeffrey Sisk, was indeed, Detective Sisk's son. The most Sliney could say is that it "appears" Shirley represented Sisk's son in a divorce case. (V-5, 873). However, even if we assume this to be true, Sliney failed to show that any cross-examination or impeachment material existed, which, counsel chose not to use as a result of the alleged conflict.

ISSUE II

WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE DURING THE PENALTY PHASE? (STATED BY APPELLEE).

Sliney asserts that his defense attorneys failed to adequately prepare or present mitigating evidence during the penalty phase. The State disagrees. The trial court properly rejected these claims after an evidentiary hearing below.

A. Standard Of Review

This Court summarized the appropriate standard of review in State v. Riechmann, 777 So. 2d 342, 350 (Fla. 2000):

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims present a mixed question of law and fact subject to plenary review based on the <u>Strickland</u> test. <u>See Rose v. State</u>, 675 So.2d 567, 571 (Fla. 1996). This requires an independent review of the trial court's legal conclusions, while giving deference to the trial court's factual findings.

This Court has stated that "[w]e recognize and honor the trial court's superior vantage point in assessing the credibility of witnesses and in making findings of fact." Porter v. State, 788 So. 2d 917, 923 (Fla. 2001) Consequently, this Court will not "substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court." Demps v. State, 462 So. 2d 1074, 1075 (Fla. 1984) (citing Goldfarb v. Robertson, 82 So. 2d 504, 506 (Fla. 1955)).

B. Preliminary Statement On Applicable Legal Standards For Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel Claims

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